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 COMPLAINT IN CIVIL ACTION 
 

 AND NOW, comes the Plaintiff, Trisha Lynn Quinn, individually and as Administrator of 

the Estate of Timothy L. Quinn, by and through his counsel, Brendan B. Lupetin, Esquire, and 

Lupetin & Unatin, LLC and files the following COMPLAINT IN CIVIL ACTION and in support 

aver as follows: 

1. Plaintiff, Trisha Lynn Quinn, is the Administrator of the Estate of Timothy L. 

Quinn, deceased (“Decedent” or “Mr. Quinn”), having been so appointed by the Register of Wills 

for the County of Westmoreland, in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, on October 2nd, 2025.  

See copy of the Short Certificate attached hereto as Exhibit “A.” 

2. Plaintiff brings this action in her capacity as Administrator on behalf of the Estate 

pursuant to the Survival Act, 42 Pa. C.S. § 8302, and on behalf of the beneficiaries pursuant to the 

Wrongful Death Act, 42 Pa. C.S. § 8301. 

3. Trisha L. Quinn is the sister of Decedent and is an adult individual resident of 



Westmoreland County, Pennsylvania. 

4. In addition to the Plaintiff, Decedent is survived by his three children, Jeremiah 

Quinn, Lilliana Quinn, and Teagan Quinn, who are each individual residents of Westmoreland 

County. 

5. Jeremiah Quinn, Lilliana Quinn, and Teagan Quinn are the children of the Decedent 

and are the statutory beneficiaries entitled to recover damages in this action pursuant to 42 Pa. C.S. 

§ 8301 and Pa. R.C.P. No. 2202.  

6. This Complaint is filed in accordance with the notice and pleading requirements of 

Pa. R.C.P. No. 2204. 

7. This instant matter is brought on behalf of the beneficiaries pursuant to 42 Pa. C.S. 

§ 8301 and Pa. R.C.P. No. 2202. 

 
8. Defendant Nippon Steel North America, Inc. (“Nippon Steel”) is a Texas 

corporation with registered address of 920 Memorial City Way, Suite 700, Houston, TX 77024. 

At all times relevant hereto Nippon Steel regularly conducted business in Allegheny County, 

Pennsylvania. 

9. Defendant MPW Industrial Services, Inc. (“MPW”), is an Ohio Corporation 

licensed to do business in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania located at 9711 Lancaster Road, 

Hebron, Ohio 43025.  At all times relevant hereto MPW regularly conducted business in Allegheny 

County, Pennsylvania. 

10. Defendant Valves, Inc. is a Pennsylvania corporation with registered address in 

Allegheny County of 525 William Penn Place Pittsburgh, PA 15219. At all times relevant hereto 

Valves, Inc., regularly conducted business in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania. 

11. At all times relevant hereto, Defendants Nippon Steel, MPW, and Valves, Inc., 



(collectively “Defendants”) acted by themselves and by and through their agents, servants, and 

employees, including actual and/or apparent agents. 

JURISDICTION & VENUE 

12. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Valves, Inc., under 42 Pa.C.S. § 

5301(a)(2)(1) because this Defendant is incorporated under, a sovereign of, and/or domiciled in, 

Allegheny County, Pennsylvania and its tortious acts or omissions occurred in Pennsylvania. 

13. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants Nippon Steel and MPW, 

under 42 Pa.C.S. § 5301(a)(2)(iii) and § 5322(a) because these companies carry on a systematic 

and continuous part of their general business in and the cause of action arose in the Commonwealth 

of Pennsylvania. 

14. Venue is proper in the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County pursuant to 

Pa. R.C.P. 2179(a)(2) because all of the defendants regularly conduct business there and it is the 

location where the cause of action arose. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I. U.S. Steel, the Clairton Coke Works Facility, and Coke Oven Gas 

15. The Clairton Coke Works facility, located in Clairton, Pennsylvania, is the largest 

metallurgical coke manufacturing facility in the Western Hemisphere, operating continuously 

since 1916.  

16. Metallurgical coke production involves heating raw coal to approximately 2,000°F 

for a minimum of eighteen hours in oxygen-free coke ovens, driving off volatile compounds and 

leaving carbon-rich coke used as fuel in steel blast furnaces. 

17. This heating process generates "coke oven gas," a highly flammable and toxic 

mixture consisting primarily of hydrogen (40-60%), methane (20-30%), nitrogen (3-15%), and 



carbon monoxide (3-6%).  

18. Coke oven gas has a lower explosive limit of 4.4%, is less dense than air, and has 

an autoignition temperature of 1,065°F through its hydrogen component. 

19. At Clairton, coke oven gas is collected, processed in a separate unit, and returned 

through underground high-pressure piping to the coke batteries to be burned as fuel—creating an 

integrated but inherently hazardous closed-loop system throughout the facility. 

20. Coke oven gas contains residues including tar-like substances and particulates that 

accumulate in piping and valve seats over time, creating operational problems and requiring 

periodic maintenance and flushing procedures. 

II. The Battery 13/14 Configuration and the Fatal Design Flaw 

21. At the time of the incident, U.S. Steel operated six coke batteries at Clairton, 

including Batteries 13 and 14, which were originally constructed in the 1920s and rebuilt in 1989. 

22. Between Batteries 13 and 14 existed the "transfer area," which housed critical 

operational facilities including: (a) two control rooms called "reversing rooms" where operators 

monitored and controlled the coking process during entire shifts; (b) a break room where workers 

took meal and rest breaks; (c) personnel shacks; and (d) staircase access to the battery tops. 

23. Beneath the transfer area, in a confined space called the "basement," ran the high-

pressure coke oven gas supply piping that fed processed gas to both batteries, including the Battery 

13 gas isolation valve.   

24. A cross section of Batteries 13 and 14 is shown in this photograph: 



 

25. The occupied reversing rooms and break room in the transfer area were located 

merely 10-20 feet directly above the high-pressure coke oven gas supply piping in the basement.  

26. These buildings were ordinary industrial structures providing weather protection 

and workspace—not blast-resistant structures designed to withstand explosions. 

27. This configuration violated fundamental facility siting principles codified in 

industry guidance from the Center for Chemical Process Safety ("CCPS") and the American 

Petroleum Institute ("API"), which require separation of occupied buildings from major process 

explosion hazards or, alternatively, blast-resistant construction to protect occupants. 

III. The 1998-2018 Process Hazard Analyses: Ignored Warnings and Rejected 

Recommendations 

28. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration's ("OSHA") Process Safety 

Management ("PSM") standard, 29 C.F.R. § 1910.119, requires comprehensive hazard analysis 

and facility siting evaluation for processes containing 10,000 or more pounds of flammable gas. 



29. Between 1998 and 2018, U.S. Steel conducted five Process Hazard Analyses 

("PHAs") of its Clairton coke oven gas system: in 1998, 2003, 2008, 2013, and 2018. 

30. Documents from the 1998, 2003, and 2008 PHAs explicitly stated that facility 

siting—a required PSM element—was not considered by the PHA teams. 

31. In 2003, the PHA team issued a specific written recommendation to site 

management urging U.S. Steel to conduct a facility siting study of the coke batteries to evaluate 

whether occupied buildings were appropriately located relative to explosion hazards. 

32. Clairton management rejected the 2003 facility siting recommendation, providing 

written justification stating: "The [coke oven gas] system is not explicitly covered by OSHA's 

[PSM] regulation. Accordingly, elements of PSM are selectively applied to this system as deemed 

necessary and appropriate by Clairton Works management. Elements applied are considered 

adequate to ensure employee safety and operational integrity. Therefore, management does not 

consider it necessary to conduct the activities as recommended." 

33. This rejection was based on U.S. Steel's interpretation that coke oven gas qualified 

for the PSM "fuels exemption," which excludes "hydrocarbon fuels used solely for workplace 

consumption as fuel." 

34. U.S. Steel's interpretation was initially supported by OSHA's 1992 "King Letter," 

which stated that coke oven gas used as fuel fell within the fuels exemption. 

IV. The 2013 OSHA Wilkins Letter: Clarification That PSM Applies to Coke Oven 

Gas 

35. On February 4, 2013, OSHA issued a Letter of Interpretation known as the "Wilkins 

Letter," which explicitly rescinded the 1992 King Letter and clarified that coke oven gas does NOT 

qualify for the fuels exemption. 



36. The Wilkins Letter stated that coke oven gas fails to meet the definition of 

"hydrocarbon," which OSHA defined as "an organic compound consisting exclusively of carbon 

and hydrogen."  

37. Because coke oven gas contains significant quantities of nitrogen, carbon 

monoxide, and other non-hydrocarbon constituents, it cannot be considered a hydrocarbon fuel. 

38. The Wilkins Letter unambiguously concluded that processes containing more than 

10,000 pounds of coke oven gas (as did Clairton) are covered by the PSM standard and must 

comply with all PSM requirements, including facility siting evaluation. 

39. Despite this clear 2013 regulatory clarification, U.S. Steel continued to maintain 

that its coke oven gas supply process was not covered by PSM and continued to apply PSM 

requirements only selectively as management deemed "necessary and appropriate." 

40. U.S. Steel never conducted a comprehensive facility siting evaluation of the 

Clairton Coke Works facility following the 2013 Wilkins Letter, despite twelve years of 

opportunity to do so before the fatal explosion. 

41. The 2018 PHA, the final PHA conducted before the explosion, claimed that facility 

siting was addressed "qualitatively" and that "specific discussion relative to facility siting is 

documented throughout the [PHA] worksheets."  

42. However, no substantive documentation of any actual facility siting analysis was 

provided, representing mere checkbox compliance without meaningful evaluation. 

43. Throughout this entire period from 2003 through August 11, 2025, spanning 

twenty-two years, the physical layout of the Battery 13/14 area remained unchanged.  

44. Workers continued to be stationed in the reversing rooms and break room located 

10-20 feet directly above the high-pressure coke oven gas piping, completely unaware they were 



positioned atop a catastrophic explosion hazard that their employer had been repeatedly warned 

about and consistently refused to address. 

V. Nippon Steel's Acquisition and Ratification of the "Blast Zone" Hazard 

45. On December 16, 2023, Nippon Steel and U.S. Steel announced a definitive 

agreement whereby Nippon Steel would acquire all of U.S. Steel for approximately $14.1 billion 

plus the assumption of debt representing a total enterprise value of $14.9 billion. 

46. In June 2025, two months before Timothy Quinn's death, Nippon Steel finalized its 

acquisition of United States Steel Corporation, making U.S. Steel a wholly owned subsidiary and 

bringing all U.S. Steel assets, including the Clairton Coke Works facility, under Nippon Steel's 

ownership and operational control. 

47. As part of the standard pre-closing due diligence process required for an acquisition 

of this magnitude, Nippon Steel's executives, engineers, and legal counsel conducted 

comprehensive review of U.S. Steel's operations, assets, liabilities, and regulatory compliance 

status. 

48. During this due diligence review, Nippon Steel took possession of and reviewed 

U.S. Steel's safety records for the Clairton facility, including the complete history of Process 

Hazard Analyses conducted from 1998 through 2018. 

49. Specifically, Nippon Steel's due diligence team reviewed and took possession of 

the 2003 PHA documentation, which contained both the facility siting study recommendation and 

management's written rejection of that recommendation. 

50. Nippon Steel's review revealed that U.S. Steel management had explicitly refused 

to conduct facility siting evaluation based on the rationale that the coke oven gas system was "not 

explicitly covered by OSHA's PSM regulation" and that PSM elements were being "selectively 



applied... as deemed necessary and appropriate by Clairton Works management." 

51. Nippon Steel's legal and compliance personnel, conducting regulatory due 

diligence, were aware of or should have been aware of OSHA's 2013 Wilkins Letter, which had 

invalidated U.S. Steel's fuels exemption interpretation and established that coke oven gas systems 

are subject to full PSM compliance. 

52. Nippon Steel therefore knew, or through the exercise of reasonable diligence should 

have known, that the Clairton Coke Works facility had been operating in violation of federal PSM 

requirements for twelve years since the 2013 Wilkins Letter, and that occupied buildings housing 

workers were improperly sited in close proximity to major explosion hazards without required 

evaluation or mitigation. 

53. Nippon Steel's engineering and safety personnel, reviewing the facility layout and 

the proximity of the reversing rooms and break room to the high-pressure coke oven gas piping, 

knew or should have known that workers were positioned in what facility siting experts term a 

"blast zone"—the area subject to catastrophic overpressure and structural destruction in the event 

of a vapor cloud explosion. 

54. Upon finalizing the acquisition, Nippon Steel did not remain a passive shareholder.  

55. Instead, it affirmatively undertook the duty of operational oversight by integrating 

the Clairton facility into its global safety management structure. 

56. Upon completing its acquisition in June 2025, Nippon Steel possessed absolute 

authority and operational control to order immediate corrective action, including: (a) implementing 

a comprehensive safety stand-down to conduct overdue facility siting evaluations; (b) temporarily 

shutting down operations at Battery 13/14 until occupied buildings could be relocated or retrofitted 

with blast-resistant construction; (c) immediately relocating workers from the transfer area 



buildings to temporary safe locations pending permanent solutions; or (d) implementing any 

combination of measures necessary to remove workers from imminent danger. 

57. Industry standards and corporate governance principles applicable to acquiring 

companies require that when a purchaser discovers serious safety deficiencies during due 

diligence—particularly deficiencies involving imminent danger to human life—the acquiring 

company must take immediate corrective action upon assuming operational control, even if such 

action requires operational disruption or expense. 

58. Nippon Steel made a conscious corporate decision not to exercise its authority to 

implement safety corrections.  

59. Despite knowing that the Clairton facility was operating with occupied buildings 

improperly sited in blast zones, and despite knowing that required facility siting evaluations had 

been rejected for over twenty years, Nippon Steel authorized continued operations without 

interruption. 

60. This decision constituted ratification of the dangerous condition.  

61. By taking ownership of the facility with knowledge of the blast zone hazard, by 

possessing authority to order immediate correction, and by consciously deciding to maintain 

operations without implementing safety measures, Nippon Steel adopted U.S. Steel's prior 

negligence as its own and assumed direct responsibility for the consequences. 

62. Nippon Steel's decision to continue operations was motivated by prioritization of 

revenue over worker safety.  

63. Shutting down Battery 13/14 for facility siting evaluation and corrective 

construction would have required taking the batteries offline, disrupting coke production, reducing 

revenue, and incurring substantial capital expenditure for building relocation or blast-resistant 



construction.  

64. Nippon Steel had the exclusive power to authorize the $11 Billion in capital 

improvements.  

65. By failing to immediately release emergency safety funds or make safety funding 

a condition of the closing, they effectively starved the U.S. management team of the resources 

needed to fix the Blast Zone. 

66. Nippon Steel chose to avoid these costs and maintain revenue flow despite 

knowledge of imminent danger to workers. 

67. This constituted conscious disregard of known risks.  

68. Nippon Steel was not ignorant of the hazard or reasonably mistaken about safety 

adequacy.  

69. The company possessed specific documentary evidence that facility siting 

evaluation had been recommended and rejected, possessed regulatory knowledge that PSM 

compliance was required, and possessed engineering knowledge that workers were positioned in 

blast zones.  

70. Nippon Steel's decision to authorize continued operations in the face of this 

knowledge demonstrated conscious disregard of risks to worker safety. 

71. From June 2025 through August 11, 2025, a period of approximately two months 

during which Nippon Steel exercised complete operational control, the company took no action to 

address the facility siting hazard.  

72. No facility siting evaluation was ordered.  

73. No temporary relocation of workers was implemented. No blast-resistant 

construction was initiated.  



74. No operational restrictions were imposed to minimize worker exposure.  

75. The dangerous status quo continued unchanged under Nippon Steel's ownership. 

76. But for Nippon Steel's refusal to exercise its power to shut down the unsafe facility 

immediately upon acquisition, the Battery 13/14 batteries would have been offline on August 11, 

2025, conducting overdue facility siting evaluation and safety modifications.  

77. The valve exercising operation that triggered the explosion would not have been 

performed.  

78. Timothy Quinn would not have been present in the Battery 14 reversing room.  

79. The explosion, even if it had somehow occurred during shutdown operations, would 

not have killed or injured workers because they would have been relocated to safe locations 

pending completion of permanent facility siting corrections. 

80. Nippon Steel's direct corporate negligence in ratifying and perpetuating the blast 

zone hazard was a substantial factor in causing Timothy Quinn's death. 

81. Notwithstanding Nippon Steel’s acquisition of U.S. Steel, the employees of the 

Clairton plant remained employees of U.S. Steel and at least as of the time of the August 2025 

explosion received their paychecks from U.S. Steel. 

VI. The 2013 Valve Refurbishment: Valves Inc.'s Failure to Advise Against 

Continued Service 

82. The Battery 13 gas isolation valve was an 18-inch cast iron double disc gate valve 

originally fabricated by Chapman Valve Manufacturing Company in 1953, making it sixty years 

old at the time of refurbishment and seventy-two years old at the time of catastrophic failure. 

83. The valve body bore markings indicating a pressure rating of fifty pounds per 

square inch gauge ("psig"), a modest rating reflecting both the valve's age and the inherent 



limitations of cast iron as a pressure-containing material. 

84. In 2013, U.S. Steel contracted with Defendant Valves Inc., a specialized valve 

refurbishment company with expertise in valve materials, design, and service suitability, to 

perform the service of evaluating and refurbishing the Battery 13 gas isolation valve. 

85. Cast iron is inherently brittle with limited ductility, tending to crack rather than 

deform under stress.  

86. This brittleness becomes more pronounced with age as the material undergoes 

repeated thermal cycling, stress corrosion, and metallurgical degradation.  

87. Cast iron is particularly susceptible to thermal shock—rapid temperature changes 

that can initiate cracks that propagate catastrophically through the brittle material. 

88. In coke oven gas service, these material limitations are especially problematic due 

to: (a) exposure to hot gas from ovens operating at 2,000°F; (b) corrosive compounds and tar-like 

residues in coke oven gas that degrade sealing surfaces and attack valve body material; and (c) 

repeated thermal cycles during operational variations and maintenance shutdowns, contributing to 

cumulative material degradation. 

89. When Valves Inc. received the sixty-year-old cast iron valve for refurbishment in 

2013, the valve had already operated for six decades in demanding service without prior 

documented major overhaul—an extraordinarily long service life for any valve, particularly one 

in such harsh conditions. 

90. As a specialized valve refurbishment company, Valves Inc. possessed superior 

technical expertise regarding valve materials, design limitations, suitability for specific service 

conditions, expected service life, and the risks of continuing to operate aged cast iron valves in 

high-consequence applications. 



91. Valves Inc.'s scope of work included replacing internal components such as disc, 

seat rings, packing, and stem, along with machining or lapping sealing surfaces to restore shutoff 

capability.  

92. While these actions address wear of internals, refurbishing internal components 

cannot address fundamental limitations or degradation in the valve body material itself. 

93. Valves Inc. knew or should have known that a sixty-year-old cast iron valve body, 

regardless of how well internals could be refurbished, represented an unacceptable risk for 

continued service in a critical safety application like coke oven gas isolation where valve failure 

could result in catastrophic explosion and worker death. 

94. Valves Inc. owed a professional duty to advise U.S. Steel that while refurbishment 

was technically feasible, returning this aged cast iron valve to service was not recommended, and 

that replacement with a modern steel valve designed for the specific service conditions was the 

appropriate and necessary course of action. 

95. Valves Inc. negligently failed to provide this critical safety advice.  

96. The company either failed to recognize the unsuitability of the aged cast iron valve 

for continued service—demonstrating incompetence in their specialized field—or recognized the 

risk but failed to communicate it to U.S. Steel—demonstrating negligent omission of professional 

responsibility. 

97. Valves Inc.'s failure to advise against continued service was a substantial 

contributing factor to the valve remaining in operation for an additional twelve years until its 

catastrophic failure on August 11, 2025. 

98. Had Valves Inc. fulfilled its professional duty and recommended replacement 

rather than refurbishment, U.S. Steel would likely have installed a modern steel valve in 2013, and 



that valve would have remained in service without catastrophic failure when subjected to the 

August 11, 2025, exercising operation. 

99. The material properties differentiating steel from cast iron are fundamental and 

well-established in engineering science: steel's tensile strength is 2-3 times higher than cast iron 

(60,000-70,000 psi versus 20,000-30,000 psi); steel's fracture toughness is approximately 10 times 

higher than cast iron; and critically, steel's ductility allows it to deform extensively before failure 

while cast iron fails suddenly by brittle fracture with no warning and no capacity for deformation.  

100. These superior properties of steel are precisely why modern valve industry 

standards, including API Recommended Practice 600 for steel gate valves, specify steel 

construction for critical applications, and why cast iron valves are no longer manufactured for 

high-consequence service where failure could result in catastrophic release of hazardous materials. 

VII. July 2025: The Cracked Valve Discovery and Planned Maintenance Outage 

101. On July 8, 2025, a U.S. Steel employee identified a coke oven gas leak from a valve 

downstream of the Battery 13 gas isolation valve. 

102. In fact, the valve was cracked near one of its flanges. 

103. To replace the damaged valve, a maintenance outage was planned requiring closure 

of the Battery 13 gas isolation valve to isolate gas flow, purging of downstream piping, and 

opportunistic replacement of at least three additional valves during the same shutdown. 

104. MPW was contracted to provide personnel and pumping equipment to assist in 

"exercising" the Battery 13 gas isolation valve, specifically requesting a pump to flush residue 

from the valve seat. 

105. MPW is a specialized provider of industrial cleaning and support services, 

including the use of pressurized water for maintenance applications.  



106. The company markets itself as an expert in industrial solutions, contracting with 

major manufacturing facilities like the Clairton Coke Works to provide equipment and personnel 

for high-hazard tasks such as clearing obstructions in process piping. 

VIII. August 11, 2025: The Accelerated Decision and MPW's Involvement 

107. On August 11, 2025, eight days before the planned August 19 outage, MPW 

decided to exercise the Battery 13 gas isolation valve immediately rather than waiting for the 

scheduled maintenance. 

108. MPW mobilized three employees to the Clairton facility with a positive 

displacement pump, hoses, and fittings, arriving at approximately 10:30 AM. 

109. MPW did this without having participated in the July 28, 2025 hazard analysis 

meeting.  

110. MPW did this without obtaining a comprehensive briefing on the specific hazards 

of the coke oven gas system. 

111. The Clairton plant’s written procedure for exercising battery gas isolation valves 

specifically allowed introduction of steam into the valve body to heat it prior to exercising, with 

maximum steam pressure of ten psig.  

112. The Clairton plant’s procedure made no mention of water injection. 

113. Despite the procedural specification for steam, MPW opted to use pressurized 

liquid water instead—a deviation from procedure that would prove catastrophic. 

IX. The Hydrostatic "Bomb": MPW's Creation of Catastrophic Over-Pressurization 

114. At approximately 10:30 AM on August 11, 2025, three MPW employees gathered 

at the Battery 13 gas isolation valve in the confined basement space beneath the Battery 13/14 

transfer area. 



115. Each worker carried personal carbon monoxide monitors, and one carried a four-

gas monitor to detect oxygen, carbon monoxide, hydrogen sulfide, and flammable gas—standard 

safety practice for work in areas where hazardous atmospheres might develop. 

116. The Battery 13 gas isolation valve was actively in service with pressurized coke 

oven gas flowing through it to supply fuel to Battery 13's heating system. 

117. At that time, MPW began pumping liquid water under pressure into the valve body 

through a cleanout port using a Butterworth brand water jetting system (Model Number TF-

450MB, MPW Unit Number B130208), directing the water flow toward the valve seat to flush 

away accumulated residue. OSHA’s subsequent investigation determined that MPW was operating 

this system at a water pressure of approximately 3,000 psi. 

118. By choosing to utilize a positive displacement pump to flush the Battery 13 Gas 

Isolation Valve, MPW introduced a piece of equipment that operates on a fundamentally 

dangerous principle for this specific application: it forces a fixed volume of fluid into the discharge 

pipe with every rotation, regardless of the resistance it encountered.  

119. Unlike centrifugal pumps, which simply "churn" fluid when blocked, a positive 

displacement pump has no internal limit on the pressure it generates; if the discharge path is closed, 

the pressure rises instantly and theoretically infinitely until the weakest component in the system 

ruptures.  

120. When MPW connected this high-force pump to the closed, 50-psig-rated cast iron 

valve and injected water—an incompressible fluid—at approximately 3,000 psi, they subjected the 

seventy-two-year-old valve to forces approximately sixty times its design pressure rating, creating 

a “hydrostatic lock” that made catastrophic valve failure inevitable. 

121. The Butterworth water jetting system used by MPW was not equipped with a 



pressure relief valve—a basic safety device that automatically vents pressure to prevent equipment 

failure when system pressure exceeds safe operating limits. Had MPW’s equipment included a 

functioning pressure relief valve, the catastrophic overpressurization of the valve body could have 

been prevented or mitigated. OSHA specifically cited MPW for operating the water jetting system 

without the ability to rapidly depressurize the system. 

122. Because water cannot be compressed to accommodate the incoming volume, the 

internal pressure within the valve body spiked violently and immediately.  

123. An MPW worker observed water leaking from the valve's bonnet flange—a 

connection that should have been sealed under normal conditions—indicating that internal 

pressure had increased beyond design levels and was compromising valve integrity. 

124. Notwithstanding this observation, MPW did not immediately stop the water 

injection process. 

125. This massive hydrostatic load overwhelmed the aged cast iron, causing the "bonnet 

flange leak" that workers observed as the bolts stretched, followed seconds later by the "fully 

circumferential crack" that split the valve body entirely open, as shown in this photograph: 

 



 

126. By failing to recognize that their specific pump type would act as a hydraulic ram 

against the closed valve and stopping it when the valve began to fail, MPW turned a routine 

maintenance task into a mechanical demolition of a critical safety infrastructure. 

127. Coincidental to the valve rupture, workers heard a distinct "pop" sound. 

128. Pressurized coke oven gas rushed out through the failed valve at high velocity, 

rapidly filling the confined basement space and rising toward the occupied buildings 10-20 feet 

above. 

129.  Workers could smell the characteristic sulfurous odor of coke oven gas. 

130. Workers' gas detection monitors began alarming, indicating detection of flammable 

gas or carbon monoxide, demonstrating that coke oven gas was escaping from the valve system. 

131. Recognizing the danger, all nearby workers were directed to evacuate the basement.  

132. The released gas reached explosive concentration exceeding its 4.4% lower 

explosive limit and contacted an ignition source—likely one of the numerous hot surfaces present 



in the active coke works environment where ovens operated at 2,000°F and piping, equipment, and 

structural elements exceeded the 1,065°F autoignition temperature of hydrogen. 

133. The explosion occurred at approximately 10:47 AM—less than one minute after 

the radio evacuation call. 

134. The resulting explosion propagated through the confined basement with 

devastating force, generating a powerful pressure wave that radiated outward and upward, 

impacting the non-blast-resistant structures of the Battery 13/14 transfer area with catastrophic 

overpressure. 

X. Timothy Quinn's Death and the Destruction of the Transfer Area 

135. At the time of the explosion, Timothy Quinn was performing his assigned duties as 

an operator in the Battery 14 reversing room, positioned at his normal workstation approximately 

10-20 feet directly above the failed valve and explosion epicenter. 

136. The explosion pressure wave traveled upward through the transfer area structure, 

striking the Battery 14 reversing room with force that the ordinary industrial building was never 

designed to withstand, as demonstrated by the below photograph: 

 



137. The reversing room structure failed catastrophically.  

138. Walls collapsed, the roof was lifted and blown away, and structural elements 

disintegrated under the explosive overpressure. 

139. Timothy Quinn was struck by the pressure wave, impacted by collapsing structural 

elements, bombarded by flying debris, and subjected to the full force of an industrial explosion at 

close range, and died as a result. 

140. Timothy Quinn's death was not instantaneous but resulted from traumatic injuries 

sustained when the explosion destroyed the building he was working in—injuries including blunt 

force trauma from structural collapse, penetrating trauma from flying debris, and other catastrophic 

injuries consistent with being present at close range to an industrial vapor cloud explosion. 

XI. OSHA’s Post-Incident Investigation and Citations 

141. Following the August 11, 2025 explosion, the United States Department of 

Labor’s Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) conducted a comprehensive 

investigation of the incident at the Clairton Coke Works facility, spanning from August 2025 

through early February 2026. 

142. On February 9, 2026, OSHA issued Citations and Notifications of Penalty to both 

U.S. Steel (Inspection Number 1843132) and MPW (Inspection Number 1843671), identifying 

multiple serious violations of federal workplace safety standards directly related to the August 

11, 2025 explosion that killed Timothy Quinn. 

143. OSHA cited U.S. Steel for a total of ten violations carrying proposed penalties of 

$118,214.00. Seven of these violations were classified as “Serious,” meaning OSHA determined 

that the violations created a substantial probability of death or serious physical harm. 

144. Specifically, OSHA found that U.S. Steel violated 29 C.F.R. § 



1910.119(d)(2)(i)(C) by failing to include the maximum intended inventory of coke oven gas in 

the process technology information for the Underfire System, Foul Gas System, Chemical 

Processing System, and Down River System. OSHA determined that this failure “exposed 

employees working in and around the process to an explosion hazard when cryogenically-

processed coke oven gas was released from 13 Pad Valve.” 

145. OSHA found that U.S. Steel violated 29 C.F.R. § 1910.119(e)(6) by failing to 

update and revalidate its Process Hazard Analysis of the Underfire Gas System at least every five 

years as required. The most recent revalidation had been conducted in November 2018, making it 

overdue by late 2023—nearly two years before the fatal explosion. OSHA’s citation of this 

violation independently confirms that the PSM standard applies to U.S. Steel’s coke oven gas 

system, directly contradicting U.S. Steel’s historical position that its coke oven gas process was 

exempt from PSM requirements. 

146. OSHA found that U.S. Steel violated 29 C.F.R. § 1910.119(f)(4) by failing to 

develop and implement safe work practices, including lockout/tagout procedures, for the control 

of chemical energy while employees cleaned the seat of the Battery 13 gas isolation valve with 

water when cryogenically-processed coke oven gas was present in the valve and Underfire lines. 

147. OSHA found that U.S. Steel violated 29 C.F.R. § 1910.119(j)(2) by failing to 

establish written procedures to maintain the ongoing integrity of the Battery 13 gas isolation 

valve—the very valve whose catastrophic failure caused the explosion that killed Timothy 

Quinn. 

148. OSHA found that U.S. Steel violated 29 C.F.R. § 1910.119(j)(3) by failing to 

train employees involved in maintaining the ongoing integrity of the Battery 13 gas isolation 

valve in the procedures applicable to washing the valve with water to ensure employees could 



perform the task safely. 

149. OSHA found that U.S. Steel violated 29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(c)(4)(ii) because its 

procedures for the control of hazardous energy did not clearly and specifically outline the scope, 

purpose, authorization, rules, and techniques to be used to control chemical energy when 

employees cleaned the valve seat while coke oven gas was present. 

150. OSHA found that U.S. Steel violated 29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(d)(3) by failing to 

ensure that energy isolating devices were operated in a manner to isolate the Battery 13 gas 

isolation valve from cryogenically-processed coke oven gas while employees cleaned the valve 

with water. OSHA further found that because of U.S. Steel’s failure to isolate the valve, “the 

remaining applicable energy control elements involving LOTO device application, stored energy, 

and verification of isolation, were not implemented to safeguard employees.” 

151. OSHA found that U.S. Steel violated 29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(f)(2)(i) by failing to 

inform MPW of U.S. Steel’s lockout/tagout procedures before MPW’s employees engaged in 

cleaning the Battery 13 gas isolation valve with water while coke oven gas was present. This 

confirms that U.S. Steel sent MPW’s workers into the hazardous operation without providing the 

safety information necessary to protect them. 

152. OSHA additionally cited U.S. Steel for failing to provide OSHA inspectors with 

required incident reports within four business hours of the request. OSHA requested the OSHA 

Form 301 Incident Reports for the eight injuries resulting from the August 11, 2025 explosion on 

August 20, 2025. U.S. Steel did not provide these reports until February 5, 2026—more than five 

months after the request. 

153. OSHA cited MPW for a total of eight violations carrying proposed penalties of 

$61,473.00, including four “Serious” violations directly related to the August 11, 2025 



explosion. 

154. OSHA found that MPW violated the General Duty Clause of the OSH Act, 

Section 5(a)(1), by exposing employees to struck-by and high-pressure injection hazards through 

the use of a Butterworth brand water jetting system (Model Number TF-450MB, MPW Unit 

Number B130208) that was not equipped with a pressure relief valve. OSHA found that MPW 

employees were “operating the high-pressure water jetting system without the ability to rapidly 

depressurize the system which can result in severe waterjet injuries.” 

155. OSHA separately found that MPW violated the General Duty Clause by exposing 

employees to coke oven gas while using the same high-pressure water jetting system to flush the 

Battery 13 gas isolation valve. OSHA’s citation confirmed that MPW was operating the water 

jetting system at a water pressure of approximately 3,000 psi to flush the Chapman Valve 

Manufacturing Company brand 18-inch cast iron double gate valve (Model Number L58 1/2), 

which contained flammable coke oven gas. The 3,000 psi operating pressure was approximately 

sixty times the valve’s 50 psig pressure rating. OSHA found that “[t]he gate valve ruptured 

during this process causing an uncontrolled release of coke oven gas and a subsequent 

explosion.” 

156. OSHA found that MPW violated four separate provisions of the permit-required 

confined space standard, 29 C.F.R. § 1910.146: (a) failing to identify and evaluate the hazards of 

the 13/14 pad valve pit before employees entered (29 C.F.R. § 1910.146(d)(2)); (b) failing to 

develop and implement the means, procedures, and practices necessary for safe permit space 

entry operations (29 C.F.R. § 1910.146(d)(3)); (c) failing to test conditions in the pit to 

determine if acceptable entry conditions existed before entry was authorized (29 C.F.R. § 

1910.146(d)(5)(i)); and (d) failing to prepare an entry permit before entry was authorized (29 



C.F.R. § 1910.146(e)(1)). The 13/14 pad valve pit had been classified by U.S. Steel as a permit-

required confined space. 

157. OSHA found that MPW violated 29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(f)(2)(i) by failing to 

inform U.S. Steel of MPW’s lockout/tagout procedures before flushing the gate valve with high-

pressure water. OSHA specifically noted that the gate valve “was not isolated or purged of 

flammable coke oven gas” and that it “split open during the flushing process which resulted in 

the uncontrolled release of coke oven gas and a subsequent explosion.” 

158. OSHA further cited MPW for failing to maintain written certification of permit-

required confined space training for its employees, and for failing to certify that employee 

training related to MPW’s Energy Control Program had been accomplished and was up to date. 

COUNT I 
NEGLIGENCE - SURVIVAL 

Trisha Lynn Quinn, individually and as Administrator of the Estate of Timothy L. Quinn 
v. Nippon Steel North America, Inc.  

159. Plaintiff incorporates all previous paragraphs of this Complaint as if set forth more 

fully herein. 

160. The harm, injuries, death, and damages hereinafter set forth were a direct and 

proximate result of the negligent, careless, and reckless conduct of the Defendant Nippon Steel 

and its agents, employees or servants in some or all of the following ways: 

a. In failing to require, as a condition of the acquisition, that U.S. Steel complete 
overdue facility siting evaluations and implement required mitigation measures 
before Nippon Steel assumed operational control in June 2025. 

 
b. In failing to recognize during due diligence that OSHA's 2013 Wilkins Letter 

had invalidated U.S. Steel's fuels exemption interpretation and established that 
the Clairton facility had been operating in violation of mandatory PSM 
requirements for twelve years. 

 
c. In failing to recognize that the 2003 PHA recommendation for facility siting 



study and management's written rejection thereof represented an unmitigated 
critical hazard requiring immediate remediation, not a resolved compliance 
matter. 

 
d. In failing to order an immediate safety stand-down upon completing the 

acquisition in June 2025 to conduct overdue facility siting evaluations before 
authorizing continued operations at Battery 13/14. 

 
e. In failing to exercise its absolute authority as owner to shut down Battery 13/14 

operations temporarily pending completion of facility siting evaluation and 
implementation of required protective measures. 

 
f. In failing to implement emergency temporary relocation of workers, including 

Timothy Quinn, from the Battery 13/14 reversing rooms and break room to safe 
locations outside the blast zone during the June-August 2025 period. 

 
g. In failing to commission and complete comprehensive facility siting evaluation 

of the Battery 13/14 occupied buildings within the two-month window between 
acquisition (June 2025) and the fatal explosion (August 11, 2025). 

 
h. In failing to retain qualified facility siting consultants with expertise in vapor 

cloud explosion consequence modeling to evaluate whether occupied buildings 
10-20 feet above high-pressure coke oven gas piping provided adequate 
protection to workers. 

 
i. In failing to perform explosion consequence modeling to quantify the 

overpressure that would impact the reversing rooms and break room in the event 
of coke oven gas release and ignition in the basement directly below. 

 
j. In failing to relocate the Battery 13/14 reversing rooms and break room to 

positions at safe distances from the coke oven gas piping, consistent with the 
hierarchy of controls in API Recommended Practices 752, 753, and 756. 

 
k. In failing to design and construct blast-resistant control rooms to replace the 

existing non-blast-resistant reversing rooms when immediate relocation was not 
operationally feasible. 

 
l. In failing to establish exclusion zones or administrative controls limiting worker 

presence in the Battery 13/14 transfer area buildings pending completion of 



facility siting evaluation and implementation of permanent protective measures. 
 

m. In failing to identify the seventy-two-year-old cast iron Battery 13 gas isolation 
valve as a critical component requiring immediate replacement due to age, 
material brittleness, and high-consequence failure potential in an application 
where failure would release flammable gas in proximity to occupied buildings. 

 
n. In failing to restrict or prohibit maintenance operations on aged cast iron valves, 

particularly operations involving thermal shock from water injection, pending 
replacement with suitable modern steel valves. 

 
o. In failing to repudiate U.S. Steel's 2003 management decision rejecting the 

facility siting recommendation, and instead ratifying that dangerous decision by 
authorizing continued operations without conducting the evaluation that had 
been recommended twenty-two years earlier. 

 
p. In failing to repudiate the configuration of occupied buildings positioned 10-20 

feet above high-pressure flammable gas piping, and instead ratifying that blast 
zone configuration by assigning Timothy Quinn and other workers to continue 
reporting to those buildings for their shifts. 

 
q. In failing to prioritize worker safety over production continuity and short-term 

financial performance by authorizing continued operations at Battery 13/14 
despite documented knowledge that workers were positioned in improperly-
sited buildings subject to catastrophic explosion hazards. 

 
r. In failing to allocate adequate capital budget and engineering resources to 

address the facility siting deficiencies as an urgent priority immediately upon 
acquisition, instead deferring these expenditures to avoid operational disruption 
and maintain revenue flow. 

 
s. In failing to warn Timothy Quinn and other workers positioned in the Battery 

13/14 transfer area that they were located in close proximity to high-pressure 
coke oven gas piping, that this configuration had never been evaluated through 
proper facility siting analysis, and that Nippon Steel had identified this as a 
potential safety deficiency during acquisition due diligence. 

 
t. In failing to exercise the authority that only Nippon Steel possessed as parent 

company and owner to immediately shut down Battery 13/14 upon acquisition 
in June 2025, which failure directly caused the facility to be operational on 



August 11, 2025, directly caused Timothy Quinn to be present in the 
improperly-sited Battery 14 reversing room, and directly caused his death when 
the foreseeable explosion occurred. 

 
u. In failing to ensure that the Underfire Gas System Process Hazard Analysis was 

updated and revalidated within the five-year period required by 29 C.F.R. § 
1910.119(e)(6), which revalidation was overdue by late 2023—before Nippon 
Steel completed its acquisition in June 2025—and which failure OSHA 
subsequently confirmed through its citation of U.S. Steel for this specific 
violation. 

 
v. In failing to ensure, upon assuming operational control in June 2025, that the 

process technology information for the Clairton coke oven gas system included 
the maximum intended inventory of coke oven gas, as required by 29 C.F.R. § 
1910.119(d)(2)(i)(C), which omission prevented adequate hazard evaluation 
and which OSHA subsequently confirmed through its citation of U.S. Steel. 

 
w. In failing to ensure that U.S. Steel had developed and implemented safe work 

practices, including lockout/tagout procedures, for the control of chemical 
energy during maintenance operations on the Battery 13 gas isolation valve, as 
required by 29 C.F.R. § 1910.119(f)(4), which failure OSHA subsequently 
confirmed through its citation of U.S. Steel. 

 
x. In failing to ensure that written procedures existed to maintain the ongoing 

integrity of the Battery 13 gas isolation valve, as required by 29 C.F.R. § 
1910.119(j)(2), and in failing to ensure that employees were trained in proper 
valve maintenance procedures, as required by 29 C.F.R. § 1910.119(j)(3), 
which failures OSHA subsequently confirmed through its citations of U.S. 
Steel. 

 
y. In failing to ensure that U.S. Steel informed outside contractors, including 

MPW, of U.S. Steel’s lockout/tagout procedures before permitting those 
contractors to perform work on equipment containing coke oven gas, as 
required by 29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(f)(2)(i), which failure OSHA subsequently 
confirmed through its citation of U.S. Steel. 

 
z. In failing to ensure that U.S. Steel isolated the Battery 13 gas isolation valve 

from cryogenically-processed coke oven gas before authorizing maintenance 
work on the valve, as required by 29 C.F.R. § 1910.147(d)(3), thereby 
permitting MPW’s employees and U.S. Steel’s own employees, including 
Timothy Quinn, to work in proximity to a live coke oven gas system without 
any energy isolation safeguards. 

 
161. As the direct and proximate result of Defendant Nippon Steel’s negligent, careless, 

and reckless conduct as described herein, Mr. Quinn suffered conscious fear, pain and suffering 



from the time he was notified to evacuate, through the time of the explosion and until the time of 

his death. 

162. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Nippon Steels’s negligent conduct, 

as described herein, Trisha Lynn Quinn, as the Administrator of the Estate of Timothy L. Quinn, 

claims damages for the following: 

a. The conscious pain, suffering, fear, and anxiety suffered by Decedent;  
 

b. The loss of earnings and economic loss to Decedent’s estate, including, but not 
limited to, Decedent’s total estimated future earning power less his cost of 
personal maintenance as a result of Decedent’s death. 

 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Trisha Lynn Quinn, as the Administrator of the Estate of Timothy 

L. Quinn, claims compensatory damages of this Defendant in an amount in excess of the arbitration 

limits of this County, plus costs and interest. 

COUNT II 
NEGLIGENCE - SURVIVAL 

Trisha Lynn Quinn, individually and as Administrator of the Estate of Timothy L. Quinn 
v. MPW Industrial Services, Inc. 

163. Plaintiff incorporates all previous paragraphs of this Complaint as if set forth more 

fully herein. 

164. The harm, injuries, death, and damages hereinafter set forth were a direct and 

proximate result of the negligent, careless, and reckless conduct of the Defendant MPW and its 

agents, employees or servants in some or all of the following ways: 

a. In failing to pump steam into the Battery 13 gas isolation valve as specified in 
U.S. Steel's written procedure, and instead pumping liquid water in direct 
violation of the procedural requirement, thereby creating an extreme risk of 
valve rupture that the procedure was designed to prevent. 

 
b. In failing to question or clarify with U.S. Steel supervisory personnel why liquid 

water was being used when the written procedure explicitly specified steam 
with a maximum pressure of 10 psig, before commencing the pumping 



operation. 
 

c. In failing to recognize that substituting liquid water for steam would create an 
extreme risk of valve rupture and explosion. 

 
d. In failing to insist on participating in the July 28, 2025 planning meeting for the 

Battery 13 maintenance outage, despite MPW's critical role in providing valve 
flushing services that would directly interface with pressurized coke oven gas 
systems. 

 
e. In failing to conduct an independent pre-job hazard analysis before mobilizing 

equipment and personnel to perform pressurized water injection into an active 
coke oven gas isolation valve. 

 
f. In failing to request and review the complete written procedure for exercising 

battery gas isolation valves before arriving at the job site, thereby arriving 
without knowledge of the steam specification or the reasons for that 
specification. 

 
g. In failing to obtain adequate information about the hazardous properties of coke 

oven gas—including its flammability (4.4% lower explosive limit), toxicity, 
composition (40-60% hydrogen), and autoignition temperature (1,065°F)—
before performing work that could cause catastrophic release of this material. 

 
h. In failing to understand that the Battery 13 gas isolation valve was the sole 

barrier preventing coke oven gas from flowing into downstream piping, and that 
catastrophic failure of this valve while in service would result in immediate 
massive release of flammable gas into the confined basement space. 

 
i. In failing to recognize that the confined basement location where the valve was 

positioned, combined with the presence of multiple occupied buildings 10-20 
feet directly above, created a high-consequence scenario where valve failure 
would likely result in explosion, structural collapse, and worker deaths. 

 
j. In failing to recognize, as industrial cleaning professionals with expertise in 

pressurized water applications, that introducing water into a pressurized system 
containing flammable gas presented unacceptable risks of pressure surge, 
equipment failure, and catastrophic release. 

 



k. In failing to refuse to perform the requested water injection operation when 
MPW's own professional judgment and expertise should have indicated that 
pumping water (rather than steam) into a seventy-two-year-old cast iron valve 
in active coke oven gas service was inherently unsafe. 

 
l. In failing to stop the water injection operation immediately upon observing the 

first signs of valve distress—specifically when water was observed leaking 
from the bonnet flange and gas monitors began alarming. 

 
m. In failing to bring steam generation equipment to the job site rather than liquid 

water pumping equipment, when the written procedure specified steam and 
when MPW as an industrial services contractor should have had the capability 
to provide the specified medium. 

 
n. In failing to assign personnel to the August 11, 2025 operation who had specific 

training and experience in performing valve maintenance on coke oven gas 
systems, rather than treating this as a routine water pumping job comparable to 
general industrial cleaning tasks. 

 
o. In failing to provide adequate pressure monitoring and control equipment that 

would have allowed MPW to precisely control injection pressure and 
immediately detect abnormal pressure conditions indicating valve distress or 
failure. 

 
p. In failing to establish clear communication protocols with U.S. Steel personnel 

before commencing the operation, including agreement on stop-work authority, 
emergency response procedures, and the specific observations or instrument 
readings that would trigger immediate work cessation. 

 
q. In failing to verify that all personnel in the basement work area and in occupied 

buildings above understood the hazards of the operation, the signs of equipment 
distress or coke oven gas release, and the immediate actions to take if problems 
developed. 

 
r. In failing to continuously monitor the four-gas detector readings during the 

water injection operation and to establish predetermined action levels that 
would trigger immediate cessation of pumping and evacuation, before gas 
concentrations reached explosive levels. 

 
s. In failing to immediately shut down the positive displacement pump and close 



isolation valves on the water injection line at the first indication of gas release 
(when monitors alarmed), rather than continuing the operation or waiting for 
definitive instruction from U.S. Steel supervisors. 

 
t. In using a Butterworth brand water jetting system (Model Number TF-450MB, 

MPW Unit Number B130208) to flush the Battery 13 gas isolation valve at a 
water pressure of approximately 3,000 psi—approximately sixty times the 
valve’s 50 psig design pressure rating—without recognizing that such extreme 
overpressurization of an aged cast iron valve would inevitably cause 
catastrophic failure. 

 
u. In operating the Butterworth water jetting system without a pressure relief 

valve, thereby depriving MPW’s operators and all workers in the area of the 
single most critical safety device that could have prevented catastrophic 
overpressurization of the valve body and the resulting explosion. 

 
v. In failing to comply with the manufacturer’s own guidance, as set forth in 

Butterworth Jetting Systems, Inc.’s General Information & Warranty 
Information documentation, which required that the “[p]rimary operator must 
have control of water pressure while the secondary operator observes from a 
safe distance,” and in failing to comply with ASTM E1575-12, Standard 
Practice for Pressure Cleaning and Cutting, referencing automatic shutoff and 
dump devices, and the WJTA Industry Best Practices for the Use of High 
Pressure Water Jetting Equipment (2021). 

 
w. In entering the 13/14 pad valve pit—a space classified by U.S. Steel as a permit-

required confined space—without identifying and evaluating the hazards of the 
space, without developing safe entry procedures, without testing atmospheric 
conditions, and without preparing an entry permit, all in violation of 29 C.F.R. 
§ 1910.146. 

 
x. In failing to certify that its employees who entered the 13/14 pad valve pit had 

completed permit-required confined space training, and in failing to certify that 
its employees who participated in the valve flushing operation had completed 
training related to MPW’s Energy Control Program. 

 
y. In failing to inform U.S. Steel of MPW’s lockout/tagout procedures before 

flushing the gate valve, which was not isolated or purged of flammable coke 
oven gas, thereby ensuring that neither employer implemented adequate energy 
control measures to protect workers from the hazards of the operation. 

 
165. As the direct and proximate result of Defendant MPW’s negligent, careless, and 

reckless conduct as described herein, Mr. Quinn suffered conscious fear, pain and suffering from 

the time he was notified to evacuate, through the time of the explosion and until the time of his 



death. 

166. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant MPW’s negligent conduct, as 

described herein, Trisha Lynn Quinn, as the Administrator of the Estate of Timothy L. Quinn, 

claims damages for the following: 

a. The conscious pain, suffering, fear, and anxiety suffered by Decedent;  
 

b. The loss of earnings and economic loss to Decedent’s estate, including, but not 
limited to, Decedent’s total estimated future earning power less his cost of 
personal maintenance as a result of Decedent’s death. 

 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Trisha Lynn Quinn, as the Administrator of the Estate of Timothy 

L. Quinn, claims compensatory damages of this Defendant in an amount in excess of the arbitration 

limits of this County, plus costs and interest. 

COUNT III 
NEGLIGENCE - SURVIVAL 

Trisha Lynn Quinn, individually and as Administrator of the Estate of Timothy L. Quinn 
v. Valves, Inc. 

167. Plaintiff incorporates all previous paragraphs of this Complaint as if set forth more 

fully herein. 

168. The harm, injuries, death, and damages hereinafter set forth were a direct and 

proximate result of the negligent, careless, and reckless conduct of the Defendant Valves, Inc., and 

its agents, employees or servants in some or all of the following ways: 

a. In failing to recognize and advise U.S. Steel in 2013 that a sixty-year-old cast 
iron valve was inherently unsuitable for continued service in a critical coke 
oven gas isolation application where catastrophic failure would result in 
explosive release and worker deaths, regardless of how well internal 
components could be refurbished. 
 

b. In failing to recognize that cast iron's inherent brittleness, susceptibility to 
thermal shock, and tendency to crack under stress—particularly after sixty 
years of thermal cycling, corrosive exposure, and metallurgical degradation in 
demanding coke oven gas service—rendered the valve body unsafe for 
continued use even if internal components were restored. 



 
c. In failing to perform or recommend non-destructive testing of the sixty-year-

old cast iron valve body to identify microcracks, stress corrosion, material 
embrittlement, or other structural defects that would render the valve unsafe for 
continued service, before making any recommendation about refurbishment 
versus replacement. 

 
d. In failing to inquire about and evaluate the specific service conditions (coke 

oven gas composition, operating temperatures up to 2,000°F, thermal cycling, 
corrosive residues) and the high-consequence nature of this application (valve 
located 10-20 feet below occupied buildings) before determining whether 
refurbishment was appropriate. 

 
e. In failing to advise U.S. Steel explicitly and in writing that professional 

engineering standards and industry best practices required replacement rather 
than refurbishment of sixty-year-old cast iron valves in critical safety 
applications, and that modern steel valves designed for coke oven gas service 
were the appropriate and necessary solution. 

 
f. In failing to refuse to perform the refurbishment and instead provide U.S. Steel 

with a clear written recommendation stating: "This valve should NOT be 
returned to service due to age and material limitations. Replacement with a 
modern steel valve is required to ensure worker safety." 

 
g. In failing to recognize and communicate that refurbishing internal components 

addresses only wear and functionality but cannot remedy the fundamental 
problem of a sixty-year-old brittle cast iron pressure vessel that has reached the 
end of its safe service life and presents unacceptable risk of catastrophic failure. 

 
h. In failing to recognize that returning the refurbished valve to service would 

create a false sense of security—the valve would operate properly initially, 
masking the reality that the aged cast iron body was a brittle time bomb waiting 
for thermal shock or pressure surge to trigger catastrophic circumferential 
cracking. 

 
i. In failing to provide written documentation with the refurbished valve clearly 

stating the limitations of refurbishment, the age and material concerns, the fact 
that the valve body was not evaluated or upgraded, the risks of catastrophic 
failure, and the explicit recommendation that the valve be replaced rather than 
returned to service. 



 
169. As the direct and proximate result of Defendant Valves, Inc.’s negligent, careless, 

and reckless conduct as described herein, Mr. Quinn suffered conscious fear, pain and suffering 

from the time he was notified to evacuate, through the time of the explosion and until the time of 

his death. 

170. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Valves, Inc.’s negligent conduct, as 

described herein, Trisha Lynn Quinn, as the Administrator of the Estate of Timothy L. Quinn, 

claims damages for the following: 

a. The conscious pain, suffering, fear, and anxiety suffered by Decedent;  
 

b. The loss of earnings and economic loss to Decedent’s estate, including, but not 
limited to, Decedent’s total estimated future earning power less his cost of 
personal maintenance as a result of Decedent’s death. 

 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Trisha Lynn Quinn, as the Administrator of the Estate of Timothy 

L. Quinn, claims compensatory damages of this Defendant in an amount in excess of the arbitration 

limits of this County, plus costs and interest. 

 

COUNT IV 
NEGLIGENCE – WRONGFUL DEATH 

Trisha Lynn Quinn, individually and as Administrator of the Estate of Timothy L. Quinn 
v. Nippon Steel North America, Inc., MPW Industrial Services, Inc., and Valves, Inc.   

 
171. Plaintiff incorporates all preceding paragraphs as if set forth more fully herein. 

172. As a direct and proximate result of the negligent conduct of the Defendants 

respectively, as described herein, Mr. Quinn died prematurely. 

173. As a direct and proximate result of the negligent conduct of the Defendants 

respectively, Mr. Quinn’s wrongful death beneficiaries have suffered the following damages: 



a. They have lost and forever been denied the companionship, comfort, society, 
assistance, and support of Mr. Quinn; 
 

b. They have incurred expenses for the funeral, burial, and estate administration 
for Mr. Quinn. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Trish Lynn Quinn, as the Administrator of the Estate of Timothy 

L. Quinn, claims compensatory damages of this Defendant in an amount in excess of the arbitration 

limits of this County, plus costs and interest. 
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VERIFICATION TO COMPLAINT 
        
  
 Plaintiff, Trisha Lynn Quinn, verifies that she is the Plaintiff in the foregoing action; that 

the foregoing Complaint in Civil Action is based upon information which she has furnished to her 

counsel and information which has been gathered by counsel in the preparation of the lawsuit.  The 

language of the Complaint in Civil Action is that of counsel and not of the Plaintiff.  Plaintiff has 

read the Complaint in Civil Action and to the extent that the Complaint in Civil Action is based 

upon information which she has given to her counsel, it is true and correct to the best of her 

knowledge, information and belief.  To the extent that the content of the Complaint in Civil Action 

is that of counsel, they have relied upon counsel in making this Verification.  The Plaintiff 

understands that false statements herein are made subject to the penalties of 18 Pa. C.S. Section 

4904, relating to unsworn falsification to authorities. 

 
 
Date:               

TRISHA LYNN QUINN, individually and as  
Administrator of the Estate of TIMOTHY L. 
QUINN 
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